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Summary 
 

A small Benedictine priory was founded at Pembroke in 1098, and probably 

established itself on the hill opposite the castle, which came to be called 

Monkton, a century later.  The main buildings of the Priory are thought to have 

lain immediately next to St Nicholas' church. The Old Hall is further away, but 

there is a very strong tradition that it was connected with them and the likelihood 

is that it was built as a Guest-house. 

 

Hospitality was one of the requirements laid down in the Benedictine Rule, and in 

the days before inns became common, but when a surprising number of people in 

fact travelled, the monasteries were almost the only place where they could be 

sure of a night’s lodging. If a monastery was on a pilgrim route they could expect 

to put up a steady flow of guests. 

 

Monkton Priory was small and not very wealthy, with only four or five monks in 

addition to the Prior; but it was close to a great castle, and on the pilgrim route to 

St David's, so a guest-house would have been very necessary. This would also 

explain the arrangement of the Old Hall, which is more typical of a medieval 

house than of a monastic building, with its great hall, and cross-wing containing 

separate chambers. 

 

As a building it is very difficult to date. There are almost no dateable details - 

mouldings and such-like - and when there are some they have a rather faked-up 

air, as though they have been inserted later by someone with a romantic sense of 

the past. However, the plan type is a very early one. Upper halls, that is halls 

over a vaulted undercroft, were common in England for the two centuries after 

the Conquest, but were seldom seen after 1300. In Wales and Scotland they 

continued for longer - their defensive advantages are obvious - and fine examples 

were built by Bishop Gower at his palaces at St David’s and Lamphey in the early 

14th century. So the likelihood is that Monkton is also 14th century - but it could 

be up to a century later. 

 

One of the difficulties of dating the building is that since the Dissolution of the 

Monasteries in 1539, Monkton has led a chequered career. It has changed hands 

several times; it has been in a ruinous state at least twice; and has been rescued 

and restored twice, once in 1879 by a scholarly medieval enthusiast called J.R. 

Cobb, and once in this century by Miss Muriel Thompson (later Mrs Bowen), with 

some help from Clough Williams-Ellis. 

 

So the hooded "Edwardian" fireplace, now in the hall and previously (but not 

originally) in the south-east wing, could come from this building or from another. 

All dateable carpentry has disappeared long ago. Even the slender cylindrical 

chimney, so characteristic of Pembrokeshire and thought to be early, was added 

onto a stack built for a square shaft, so is secondary to the original building, at 

least, and may be much later. 
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Whatever its problems for scholars and archaeologists, Monkton Old Hall feels 

early, and certainly conveys to us an early pattern of life, with its 

uncompromising stoniness but strong sense of hospitality.  It is remembered by 

many for Mrs Bowen's Christmas parties, and that is quite right for a building 

which was intended to welcome travellers. 

  

The Landmark Trust bought Monkton Old Hall in 1979 from Mrs Campbell, who 

had been left the house by her godmother, Mrs Bowen. Although the house had 

been lived in and looked after by Mrs Bowen until her death in 1978, there were 

still some major repairs that she had not been able to undertake. 

 

The chief of these was the eradication of dry rot, which had started in a wing 

built onto the north-west corner by J.R. Cobb, and then spread into the roof of 

the hall. In the end it was decided to take down the wing altogether, since the 

accommodation it contained would not be needed. The two doors leading to it 

had medieval stone surrounds, and these have been left visible. The roof was 

stripped, and rotten or infected timbers replaced, before the slates were relaid. 

 

The second problem was the round chimney, which was leaning dangerously over 

the roof, due to subsidence in the wall beneath. The stack had to be taken right 

down, each stone being carefully numbered; the wall was then strengthened, and 

the whole chimney rebuilt, exactly the same as before, but vertical. 

 

Thirdly, the upper face of the south-east wing, corbelled out over the curious 

arch, was leaning badly outwards over the road. This was mainly due to the 

weight of the hooded fireplace inside, which the wall beneath was too thin to 

support - one reason for thinking that it was not originally in that position. The 

fireplace was therefore removed to the hall, where it is more in character, and the 

wall of the wing rebuilt.  At the southern end of the cross passage there was a 

medieval doorway, possibly put there by Cobb. It made the passage into 

something of a wind tunnel and since its lintel was entirely rotten - this being the 

weather side - it was decided to block it up, but again leaving the stone surround 

visible. 

 

The only other alterations inside the Old Hall have been to provide a new kitchen, 

and bathrooms, together with new wiring and heating, and redecorating. The 

walls have been limewashed, which allows them to breathe, and helps prevent 

damp. The timbers in the hall have been painted with zinc chromate, usually used 

for painting ships, but providing exactly the right sort of "William Burges" red. 

Some of the furniture, such as the table in the hall and the four poster bed, 

belonged to Mrs Bowen and have been lent to the Trust by Mrs Campbell. 

Outside, a wall was built in place of the north-west wing, to shelter the 

courtyard. The ground level of this was raised to bring it up to the entrance door, 

as it appeared in an old engraving. Mrs Bowen's garden, planted on old terraces 

and between old walls, was an important part of Monkton's special character. It 

has only been possible to maintain a skeleton of this, but the view across to the 

Castle is as grand as ever. 
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Historical Monkton Old Hall 

 

Monkton Old Hall was probably built in the 14th century. There are two main 

reasons (apart from a total lack of documentary evidence) why we can't be more 

certain of this. The building has few easily dateable details; and over the 

centuries it has been much altered and rebuilt. Some authorities, indeed, believe it 

to be 15th century, and there is circumstantial evidence to support this.  

 

Whichever century it was built in, the Old Hall belongs to a far earlier tradition, 

and to a type of building that remained common in South Pembrokeshire long 

after it had been superseded in most other parts of Britain (Scotland apart). This 

was the Northern French, or Norman, semi-fortified house, built of stone, with 

the hall and other living accommodation on the first floor, raised over a vaulted 

undercroft. The defensive advantages of this arrangement explain its lasting 

popularity in the less peaceful parts of Britain. A Pembrokeshire refinement, 

which is also thought to derive from castle building, is the circular chimney, of 

which that at Monkton is a good, though possibly late, example.   

 

Monkton Old Hall, in its tough and yet accommodating way, thus reflects a way 

of life characteristic of the century and a half following the Norman Conquest. It 

is one of only about half a dozen houses of this type in England and Wales. The 

grandest of them, from which most of the others in the area were copied, belong 

to the Bishop's Palaces at St. David's and Lamphey, built mainly in the early 14th 

century by Bishop Gower.   

 

We can be more certain as to the builders of the Old Hall. It is generally thought, 

from its position next to the churchyard, that it was associated with Pembroke 

Priory, of which the church of St. Nicholas, Monkton, was part. Early 19th 

century writers assumed that it was the Prior's lodging, but since then it has 
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been argued that this would have been among the main group of monastic 

buildings, lying close to the north and north-west of the church. The most likely 

use for the Hall is now thought to have been as the Hospitium or Guest House. 

This would explain its domestic plan, and its situation slightly removed from the 

main priory buildings.  

 

One of the duties laid down in the Rule of the Benedictine Order, to which the 

Priory belonged, was that of providing hospitality for travellers. If a monastery lay 

on a high road, or on a busy pilgrim route, there could be large numbers of these, 

requiring food and a bed for the night. Separate rooms, or a self-contained 

building, would be set aside for this purpose. Pembroke Priory, or Monkton as it 

came to be called, was near a great castle and on the route for St. David's 

Cathedral, and so could expect to be in some demand.   

 

In the later Middle Ages, as the monasteries grew more wealthy, their hospitality 

both grew more lavish, and was more likely to be abused. Instead of providing 

mainly for the poor and needy, it was not unknown for founder's or patrons' kin 

to be put up for lengthy periods. Sometimes a nobleman and his following would 

"withdraw" to a monastery for Christmas or Easter. The Hospitium became more 

like a hostelry, with a special hosteller or guest-master to preside over it. 

Monkton would never have operated on this scale, because it would not have 

been rich enough, but in its more modest fashion it would have reflected what 

was happening at the greater Abbeys.  
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From Historical Domestic Architecture in Dyfed; an Outline by 

Peter Smith in Carmarthenshire Studies (1974).  (The same 

illustration appears in Houses of the Welsh Countryside also by 

Peter Smith (1975) with the note: “A more complex plan (than 

St David’s etc) consisting of hall and cross-wing both over a 

vaulted basement.  The cross-wing was later extended by the 

addition of a vaulted kitchen). 
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History of the Priory of St Nicholas, Monkton 

 

The Priory was founded in 1098 when Arnulph de Montgomery gave the church 

within his newly established castle at Pembroke, with 20 carucates of land, to 

the Benedictine Abbey of St. Martin, at Séez in Normandy. In the late 12th 

century its endowment was increased, and possibly its permanent site on the hill 

opposite the town selected, by William Marshal, the great Earl of Pembroke and 

builder of much of the castle.   

 

Little else is recorded of its history. As a dependency of the Abbey at Séez, it did 

not have the right to appoint its own Prior. He would be sent over each time from 

Normandy, and most other business would also have been administered from 

France. In the 12th century, Giraldus Cambrensis excommunicated the Sheriff for 

stealing 8 yoke of the Prior's oxen; in the 13th, the visiting Archbishop of 

Canterbury expelled Prior Ralph and sent him back to Séez in disgrace, for 

"habitual incontinency, besides other enormous and incredible offences".  

 

For most of the 14th century England was at war with France. As an "alien 

priory" (one governed from abroad) this would therefore have been a time of 

instability and uncertainty for Monkton. On two occasions its revenues were 

appropriated by the English king, each time for a number of years. It would have 

been in constant danger of being suppressed altogether, and having its land sold 

off. Almost all alien houses had to reduce their numbers at this time, because of 

financial difficulties. It is for this reason that the 14th century has been thought 

an unlikely time for the building of a large new guest-house at Monkton. Unlikely, 

but not impossible; and in fact the first half of the 15th century (later than which 

the building of a first-floor hall would be very surprising) seems to all outward 

appearances equally unpropitious.   
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From Houses of the Welsh Countryside Peter Smith (1975). Although later 

openings are shown, the plans and section are partly a reconstruction of the 

original building i.e. showing a fireplace opening in the north wall of the hall, and 

a second door (now a hatch) in the screen. The door in the north west corner of 

the hall, here shown as inserted, might in fact be in situ, and possibly led to 

another wing on this corner.  
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When the alien houses were finally closed down altogether in 1414, Monkton 

passed into the possession of the Crown. There followed a gap of several years, 

during which it was probably administered by a steward, and lived in by a 

caretaker, who would have run the farm. Henry VI then granted it to Humphrey, 

Duke of Gloucester. In 1443 he in turn gave it as a cell to St. Alban's Abbey in 

Hertfordshire.   

 

The last hundred years of the Priory's existence would have seen monks back in 

occupation, and its position secure; and its revenues no doubt recovered 

accordingly. When it was finally dissolved in 1539 its net income was œ57 per 

annum, which for Wales was well-to-do. The number of monks was probably 

slightly smaller than it originally had been, there being only four or five in addition 

to the Prior. 
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After the Reformation 

 

The history of Monkton Old Hall since 1539 is not altogether happy. According to 

Sir William Dugdale's Monasticum Anglicanum, the "manor and celle" of Monkton 

was initially sold by the Crown to a lawyer, John Vaughan, and Catherine his 

wife.  Not long afterwards, however, it passed to Walter Devereux, Viscount 

Hereford, and later 1st Earl of Essex. It was recorded as being in his possession 

in 1575, along with other Pembrokeshire manors, including Lamphey Palace.  

 

On the Earl's death, Monkton passed to his son Robert, who was to become the 

unfortunate favourite of Queen Elizabeth. He passed some years of his boyhood 

at Lamphey, and formed a close friendship with Sir Gilly Meyrick, who lived at 

Fleet in the parish of Monkton. They were both executed for treason on the same 

day in 1601. The Earl's estates were confiscated, so Monkton found itself once 

again in the hands of the Crown. In 1604, however, it was restored to his son, 

with the rest of the Earl's property; and remained part of the Devereux estates for 

two centuries more.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Engraving of Monkton Old Hall from Domestic Architecture of  

the Middle Ages; Fourteenth century by JH Parker 1853.  
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To begin with the Old Hall filled the position of manor house to Monkton, leased 

to members of the minor gentry; but by the 18th century it had fallen in status, 

and had become a farm house. This it still was when the writer Richard Fenton 

went there, as described in his Tour through Pembrokeshire (1811):     

 

The prior's mansion, now converted into a farmhouse, is of singular form, 

uniting the architecture of various fashions and ages. It is ascended by a 

flight of steps, at the foot of which on each side are remains of very 

curious pillars. The basement is vaulted, and the outbuildings, together 

with the walls that enclosed the whole, give us an idea of the prior's great 

state. The monastic precinct, or rather prior's liberties, occupying a very 

large tract, formed a paddock well walled round, commanding a fine view 

of the estuary, castle and town of Pembroke and must have been a 

sumptuous and delightful residence. A dove-house of large dimensions, an 

inseparable appendage to houses of the first note in this country, still 

exists entire just without this paddock. The priory farm rents at £400 per 

annum. 

 

At the same time, some memory of its former institutional nature kept alive a 

tradition that it should be used in part for charitable parish purposes, such as 

housing the poor. J.H. Parker in Domestic Architecture of the Middle ages; 

Fourteenth Century (1853) records its name as the Great or Charity Hall. This use 

of it seems to have been combined with that of farmhouse, so it seems likely that 

the building was divided, with one or more tenements within it.   

 

During the long period from the mid-16th century to the mid-19th century the 

building inevitably underwent several structural changes. To start with, it would 

have been necessary to make some alterations and additions to fit it for use as a 
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permanent gentleman's residence. It may have been at this time (with the 

disappearance of the Priory kitchens) that the cross-wing was extended, with its 

own, vaulted, kitchen, and additional accommodation above.    

 

It is possible that the curious features of the south-east wing belong to a slightly 

later stage, in the later 16th century perhaps (a time of medieval romanticism). 

The arch (echoing the end wall of the hall) on its outer face, and the corbels 

above, have a slightly stagey quality, especially when combined with the very 

unlikely position within its upper room of the hooded fireplace (now in the hall), 

the weight of which they were presumably meant to support. A similar 

romanticism may have caused the building of the tall round chimney, since close 

examination by the Landmark Trust's architect during its repair showed it to have 

been added to a base on which a square chimney once sat.   

 

At the same time, perhaps, the hall was floored in and subdivided. Other 

alterations probably belong to the 18th century. A new entrance was made in the 

south wall of the hall, by turning a medieval window into a door, reached by 

steps. The original entrance would have been into the cross passage at the end of 

the hall. The undercroft was also divided, and throughout the building, according 

to a 19th-century account, there were "small fireplaces and flues put in every 

possible angle".   

 

All this adds to the impression that in the late 18th and early 19th century, at 

least, more than one family was living in the building. Gradually, to suit new 

needs and arrangements, existing windows were altered and new ones inserted, 

doorways and partitions were changed about. As a result, even by the mid-19th 

century, little trace remained of the medieval layout.      
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In addition to these alterations, the dates of two rounds of repair are known. One 

was in 1661 after a Mr Browne had moved out, taking with him a number of 

pipes, gates and other fixtures. Another was in 1819, shortly after the manor had 

been bought from the Devereux family by Sir John Owen of Orielton, the sale 

having taken place in 1814. On this occasion the roof, at least, was renewed, the 

date having been found on the timbers during a later restoration. 

 

Either the work carried out then was of poor quality, or else no one could 

subsequently be found to inhabit the building and maintain it properly, because 

fifty years later, in 1868, the Rev. E.L.Barnwell noted "its present neglected 

condition" in an article in Archaeologia Cambrensis. At the time it was used 

mainly as a workshop. He adds that the dormer windows shown in Parker's 

illustration of 1853 were no longer there, and that the rear of the building was 

only approached through a stable, built onto the western end. By then it had also 

changed hands again, Sir John Owen having sold the manor in 1857 to his 

neighbour, Sir Thomas Meyrick of Bush.    

 

  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Engravings from Domestic Architecture of South Pembrokeshire EL Barnwell 

Archaeologia Cambresis 3rd Series Vol XIV 1868. 
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The first restoration 

 

In 1879 the fortunes of the Old Hall at last took a turn for the better, when it 

was leased to J.R. Cobb. Cobb was by profession a lawyer, but his interests 

were antiquarian. His keenest enthusiasm was for neglected medieval buildings, 

of which he wished to see as many as possible restored. Since he was 

reasonably well-off, he was able to put his ideas on the subject into effect. 

Pembroke, Manorbier and Caldicot Castles all belonged to him at one time, and 

owe much of their present appearance to his work of preservation and 

reconstruction. He was also closely concerned with the restoration of Brecon 

Cathedral. It was not surprising, therefore, that he should become interested in 

the Old Hall, standing gauntly on its hill opposite the castle, and clearly in need of 

attention.   

 

In 1880 he wrote an account of Monkton for Archaeologia Cambrensis. After a 

structural account of the building, he goes on to outline its condition when he 

found it:     

 

“The slated roof, the timbers of which bore the date 1819, had fallen, all 

the partitions above the vaulting and wooden work had disappeared, the 

bays of the lower hall were divided by walls, the east window had been 

converted into a fireplace and flue, and earth and filth had accumulated 

half way to the roof. The vault of the porch had given way quite recently, 

that of the north-east limb in more remote times, its further fall being 

arrested by a pillar of loose stones built underneath, about 10ft by 6ft 

square. An elder tree two feet in circumference grew in the slender stack, 

sending its roots down through the masonry to the floor of the lower hall. 

The (east) wall of the north-eastern limb had bulged very considerably, and 
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there was imminent risk of the whole giving way; it is hoped the unsightly 

modern buttress will preserve it. Of course, there was no authority for this 

buttress, it was simple necessity". 

 

According to the Royal Commission's Inventory for Pembrokeshire of 1925, Mr 

Cobb "appears to have been a careful and competent observer"; so much so that 

they quote his account of the building in full, although preferring a 15th-century 

date for it, and qualifying their approval with the explanation "the ruin was so 

extensive that the restoration had to become equally thorough".  In Mr Cobb's 

own words, the building was "restored as faithfully as circumstances would 

admit, though not quite to his satisfaction".   

 

It is not possible now to tell how much of the stonework he repaired, and how 

much is earlier work; but all carpentry was renewed - roof, floors, partitions, 

doors and window frames. The hall and undercroft were reinstated as open 

spaces. He turned the door in the south wall of the hall back into a window, but 

then reopened the door at the south end of the cross-passage, to restore the 

original circulation. On the north-west corner of the hall were the foundations of 

another wing, which he rebuilt. He presumed it to be medieval from the doors in 

that corner in the hall and undercroft. He thought that both this and the north-

east wing had been added to an existing hall, which was itself added to the 

undercroft, although possibly as part of the same design.   

 

Once Cobb had completed the restoration of the Old Hall he seems to have 

handed back responsibility to its owner. No doubt he intended that a tenant, or 

caretaker, should live in the wing. For the hall, there was to be a more public role: 

"as part of the arrangement with the owner it is to be used as a Sunday school, 

parish library, or other parochial use in connection with the Church of England".  
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What actually happened - especially after Cobb's death in 1897 - was that the 

Old Hall returned to its previous pattern of spasmodic use for parish purposes - 

even dancing classes were held in the hall at one time - interspersed with periods 

of neglect and use as a village dump. The undercroft began once again to fill with 

rubbish. For a few years in the 1920's it became the home of the Vicar, while his 

Vicarage was being refurbished. Then in 1931 or 1932, it was discovered by a 

new enthusiast, who was determined to take it on and support its cause.
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Monkton in the late 1940s during the restoration by Muriel Thompson. 

 The garden is taking form but the windows are still wooden sashes. 
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Muriel Thompson’s first meal at Monkton in 1933.  

The furniture is made from driftwood. 
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The restoration by Muriel Thompson (later Mrs Bowen) 

 

Muriel Thompson wrote in her Visitors Book on 7th January, 1933, "took 

possession of Monkton Old Hall at last".  She had very little money and almost no 

furniture, but she made up for this by having great energy and strength of 

character, and an uncompromising devotion to the house she had bought. She 

spent the next forty years, until her death in 1978, gradually furnishing it, 

improving it and building a garden around it.   

 

In the first few years she divided her time between Pembrokeshire, where she 

had previously had a cottage at Linney, and London, where she continued her 

career as a journalist. As gardening correspondent for Every woman magazine, 

she was able to earn the money to spend on the Old Hall.   

 

To begin with only essential work and repairs were carried out - plumbing, 

electricity, gutters and roof, and cleaning out the undercroft. This she always 

intended to bring into full use; she installed a grand piano and named it the Music 

Room. The man who did the work for her, John Craggs, was also a furniture 

dealer, and she bought one or two things from him, such as dressers and chests. 

  

She was always on the look out for furniture massive enough to fit the house, at 

a price she could afford. Until then she made do with stools to sit on, or 

makeshift chairs and tables put together from driftwood. She collected this from 

the beach in a trailer which fixed onto her car, and continued to do so all her life. 

Later the driftwood furniture was all put together in the undercroft of the north-

east wing, known as the Smoke Room.   
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During the War the Old Hall was occupied by soldiers. Miss Thompson and her 

friend Miss Hasluck moved back in 1945.  Her life there seems to have entered a 

new stage; she continued to write and to travel (she had lived for periods in Paris 

and New York) but Monkton now became more permanently her home, and she 

began to take an interest in local affairs. As she settled in she started to plan 

alterations to the house. She wanted particularly to remove the sash windows 

fitted by Cobb, and to replace them with leaded lights. She also wanted to bring 

more light into the hall, and to give it a fireplace, which it appears to have been 

without.  

 

To this end, in 1950, she wrote to the architect Clough Williams-Ellis, asking him 

to come and look at her "queer old house" and give his advice. His suggestions to 

make an internal porch so that the cross-passage would be less draughty, and to 

make a large window at the eastern end of the Music Room to double as a door 

to the garden, she never carried out, but other work went on over the next three 

or four years. Although not wholly approving of "your leaded lights" he took great 

trouble to have them well made, with glass that was not too perfect, and of 

slightly irregular sizes.   

 

In the hall, he suggested making a new window in the west gable, using the 

stones of the door surround in the south wall, which Cobb had turned back into a 

window but left in situ. A new window was put in its place in the centre of the 

south wall, matching those on either side, both of which were made slightly 

larger.  
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As to the fireplace he wrote:     

 

“Unless you have something really one hundred percent appropriate and 

rather monumental the thing is to have a quite plain hole. I have even done 

this quite effectively in a Baroque saloon where everything else was highly 

architectural. It seemed to say "There was a terrific affair here once but it 

is gone", or alternatively "there is going to be one day when we get around 

to it".  

 

The new fireplace was to go at the west end of the hall, using a chimney added 

probably in the 18th century. A mason, Hubert Roblin, had been bought back 

from retirement by Argent's, the building firm, especially to work on the Old Hall. 

He made a plain mantelpiece from local limestone, and another for the fireplace in 

the Music Room.  
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Sketch for the hall by Clough Williams-Ellis. 
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Plan for an internal porch. 
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Suggested gates for the garden. 
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An idea for the east end of the music room 
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Plans to brighten up the music room. 
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In all the work she did, Miss Thompson had an inventive and able right-hand man 

in Mr James, who came to work for her as gardener and odd job man in 1945. 

His wife also helped in the house and did the cooking. He cleared away six 

sycamores from around the west end of the house, and laid down the tarmac 

drive, with the raised border by it. For the path leading to what was then the 

front door (in the south-east wing), he used paving stones which he had found 

being thrown away by Council workmen in Pembroke.   

 

When Miss Thompson decided to take up the floor boards in the hall, in order to 

lay tiles instead, he used the wood to make cupboards around the house. One of 

these was in Miss Thompson's bedroom, built all along one wall, and entered 

from either end so that her large four poster bed could stand against its front (this 

was designed for her by Clough Williams-Ellis). Also in her bedroom, which was 

on the first floor of the south-east wing, was at that time the large hooded 

fireplace, known as "Edwardian", from its similarity to those built in Edward I's 

castles.   

 

In order to stop this fireplace from smoking, Mr James built up the hearth with 

stones collected from the beach. It then refused to draw. They tried every known 

method of making it do so, without success; finally one of the builders suggested 

hanging a chain down the chimney. They did so, and it worked. Miss Thompson 

opened a bottle of champagne to celebrate, and they all sat down on the end of 

her bed to drink it.   
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Staffs of office of Lords Lieutenant of Pembrokeshire belonging to 

Commodore Bowen’s family.  Bringing Old Monkton Hall back to life. 
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In the early 1960s Miss Thompson married Air Commodore Bowen, who was at 

that time Lord Lieutenant of Pembrokeshire. Several of his ancestors had been 

Lord Lieutenant before him, and the family had kept their staffs of office. These, 

and other insignia, were arranged on the end wall of the hall.   

 

Her husband's office gave Mrs Bowen an excuse for even more frequent 

entertaining. From the beginning it had been her intention, in taking on the Old 

Hall, to revive its spirit of hospitality; to make it a centre where people could 

gather and talk and enjoy themselves. The Visitors Books show the house as 

constantly full, with large families of cousins as well as friends. They all had to 

write or draw something in the book before they left.   

 

As well as house parties there were lunch and dinner parties, children's parties 

for her god-daughter, and most lavish of all the annual Christmas parties. A large 

tree would be put up in the hall, and covered with decorations. These, like her 

Christmas cards, she often made herself; there were twelve new things every 

year, so that by the end of her life they could hardly all be fitted on. The whole 

house would be garlanded with greenery, in addition to her usual flower 

arrangements. When the candles on the tree had been lit, everyone would go 

down to the Music Room, where local children would ring hand bells, and the 

church choir would sing.  

 

The long, terraced garden is very much part of Monkton's special character. 

Creepers and climbing roses softened the walls of the house; herbaceous borders 

flourished in the shelter of the walled garden, providing an interlude before the 

dramatic views of the castle, for which a small formal garden provides the 

foreground. The garden was continually growing and developing, with new 

varieties of plants and new combinations of colour. Mrs Bowen had planned to 
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put a glass door, with heavy glazing bars, at the north end of the passage, so 

that when she was too old to go out in winter (in the summer the door was 

usually open anyway), she could still see it all. In fact she remained so active, 

and agile, until the end of her life that it never had to be done.   

 

Mrs Bowen's ambition was to bring Monkton Old Hall back to life, and to see it 

restored to a prominent place in the social framework of the county. To have 

done this so well, entirely through her own efforts and with no money behind her, 

was a remarkable achievement. It was also perhaps one which could only have 

succeeded so fully in the years before and just after the War.  

 

Such an ambitious undertaking always requires a very individual, and seldom 

repeatable, vision and dedication to carry it through; today in addition to this, 

building and most other costs being so much higher than they were fifty years 

ago, it also demands the ability, and opportunity, to earn a substantial living in a 

remote place. (This perhaps is becoming more possible again, with the advent of 

high- technology communications). Sadly, therefore, it is rare for such places to 

continue for a second generation. However, by leaving the Old Hall to her god-

daughter Cheryl Campbell, who comes from an old Pembrokeshire family, and is 

married to an architect with a wide knowledge and experience of historic 

buildings, Mrs Bowen ensured that a great deal of thought and care would be 

given to securing its future.  
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Air Commodore and Mrs Bowen (he is taking the picture). 
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Photographs from an article about Mrs Bowen’s house in 

Everywoman magazine that appeared in the 1950s. 
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Mrs Bowen’s bedroom [above] and the music room [below]. 
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Demolished north west wing form the courtyard. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View from the west, with the demolished wing on the left and the former 

entrance into the SE wing on the right.  
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Work carried out by the Landmark Trust 

 

The solution arrived at by Mrs Campbell was to sell Monkton Old Hall in 1979 to 

the Landmark Trust. The house would in this way continue to be enjoyed by a 

constant flow of different people, and would at the same time be earning an 

income to pay for its maintenance. Before anyone could stay there, however, it 

was necessary for Landmark to make some alterations, to adapt the house for its 

new use; and to carry out repairs that Mrs Bowen had not been able to do. To 

supervise this work, the architect Lionel Beddall-Smith was appointed; and 

Argent's, the firm that worked at Monkton in the 1950's, was employed to carry 

it out.  

 

The most urgent job was the eradication of dry rot. This had started in, and 

spread throughout, Cobb's north-west wing, and was beginning to spread further 

into the north wall of the hall, and the roof timbers. Since the cost of reinstating 

the wing would have been enormous, and the accommodation that it contained 

was not in fact needed, the decision was made to demolish it altogether. The two 

doors connecting it with the main building were blocked up, but the medieval 

dressings were left exposed on the inside. To keep the feeling of a sheltered and 

enclosed courtyard on this side of the house, a new wall was built out from the 

corner of the hall in its place.   

 

The roof was stripped of its slates, some of which were broken; any timbers that 

were decayed or affected by dry rot were replaced, and the slates refixed, their 

numbers being made up from the roof of the demolished wing.   

 

For some years there had been concern about the round chimney, which was 

now leaning inwards over the roof, as well as to the side, which it had probably 
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always done. This was because the wall beneath had at some time been rebuilt 

with inferior masonry and was not strong enough to support the weight. It was 

possible that it would lean no further, but it was more likely that the point of 

collapse would be reached before long. The chimney was taken down, a concrete 

spreader inserted in the wall below to distribute the weight more evenly, and the 

whole faithfully and carefully rebuilt.   

 

Small repairs were carried out to the other chimneys, and some areas of wall 

repointed and repaired, using local stone. Repairs to the south-east wing were 

more extensive. The upper half of its south elevation (overhanging the road) was 

leaning outwards, because of the weight of the big fireplace within it, which the 

wall was too thin to bear. The wall was taken down to the level of the corbels, 

the stones all being numbered so that they could be rebuilt in exactly the same 

order, but this time to the vertical. Three small chimneys on the parapet were not 

reconstructed, since they made the roofline fussy and were, in any case, later 

additions which were no longer of any use. To prevent the problem recurring, the 

great fireplace had been removed, for re-use elsewhere in the house. 

 

Damp had been getting through this wall as well, and on the main floor had 

rotted the internal lintel of Cobb's entrance door at the south-west corner of the 

cross-passage. Partly because the main entrance was to be transferred to the 

north side, and partly to prevent drafts and the rain from getting in, this door was 

blocked, and the steps leading up to it removed. The medieval stones have been 

left visible. Then, in order to make the south wall completely damp-proof, an 

inner skin was built, with a cavity between it and the outer wall.   

 

The same was done at the west end of the hall, not only to keep out damp, but 

also to make the wall thick enough to take the great fireplace, which was to be 
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inserted there. If this fireplace came from the hall in the first place (it might have 

come from another building entirely), it would have been on the north wall. 

However, the flues there had been altered to serve the fireplace in the undercroft, 

so it seemed to make better sense to use the opening made by Mrs Bowen in the 

west wall.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The west end of the hall, with the fireplace 

 inserted by Mrs Bowen. 
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The former front door in the south east wing.  

You can see damp penetrating the walls  

causing damage to the plaster  

 

Apart from moving the fireplace, and fitting a kitchen into Mrs Bowen's small 

dining room, little was done to the interior apart from general refurbishment and 

redecoration. The heating system and the wiring were renewed, and where 

necessary the walls were replastered, before limewashing. The paint on the 

woodwork is one normally used for the hulls of ships; it is a zinc chromate, and 

just the right shade of "William Burges" red. The outer doors, and that opening 

into the hall, were renewed, all in plain oak. Iron door furniture came from 

redundant Victorian churches at Warren and Castlebythe.  
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Mrs Bowen’s bedroom with the “Edwardian” fireplace which  

was then moved to the hall. 

 

Some of the furniture in the house belonged to Mrs Bowen, and has been lent to 

the Landmark by Mrs Campbell: the table in the hall; the iron standard lamps 

(made by a local blacksmith); and the four-poster bed. This had to be enlarged to 

fit a modern-sized mattress, but its former canopy, painted with the sun and 

moons, hangs in the hall. The small stone owl was carved by Mrs Bowen's 

nephew, the sculptor Alan Best.   

 

Outside, on the north side, the courtyard was enlarged by the removal of some 

19th-century potting sheds. The level has been raised by about two feet, to bring 

it nearer to the main floor of the house. The paving stones are blue pennant, from 

the Blue Anchor Quarry at Penclawdd near Swansea. The external steps are 

mostly Carmarthen "black" limestone, recovered from Stackpole, a demolished 

Victorian house.   
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Demolished potting sheds. 

 

No attempt was made to fully restore Mrs Bowen's garden, for without her skill 

and dedication this would be impossible, but thanks to the hard work of Mr 

James, its shape has been retained, particularly in the viewing place at the end. 

 

An Open Day for local people was held at the Old Hall on St David's Day, 1989. 

It was notable how many of those who came had vivid memories of the parties 

held in the house, remembering especially the Christmas tree, the carols, and the 

hand-bells, which some of them had rung. It is a house which has a strong appeal 

for children, which is just as it should be, because its character is in some way 

fundamental. Those who care for the Old Hall can look forward to its future with 

reasonable confidence, seeing it securely established within the tradition of 

hospitality for which it was built. 
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Lower Floor 

 

Monkton Old Hall in 1979 before work was carried out by Landmark. 
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Ground Floor 
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First floor 
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Annexes 

 

Extracts from Everywoman magazine, articles by Miss Thompson 

 

A brief history of the ancient priory church of St Nicholas & St John, Monkton 

 

Register of Parks and Gardens in Wales for Monkton Old Hall and Vicarage 

 

  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

50 

 

 

  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

51 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

52 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

53 

 



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

54 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

55 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

56 

 



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

57 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

58 

 
  



                                                                    Monkton Old Hall History Album  

59 

 


